IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA

SCA EFiled: Mar 13 202 11:50PM EDT
Transaction ID 69332959
below
below

Shawn R. McDermott WV Bar No. 11264 smcdermott@wvacriminaldefense.com

Kevin D. Mills WV Bar No. 2752 kmills@wvacriminaldefense.com

Attorneys for Petitioner

The Criminal Law Center 1800 West King Street Martinsburg, WV 25401 P: (304) 262-9300 F: (304) 262-9310

ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- 1. The circuit court abused its discretion and prejudiced Mr. Hundley's due process rights by precluding Mr. Hundley from introducing evidence of the decedent's addiction history, extreme intoxication at the time of the confrontation, and toxicology results where the evidence was relevant to Mr. Hundley's self defense case.
- 2. The circuit court abused its discretion and prejudiced Mr. Hundley's due process rights by allowing the State to sandbag previously-prohibited argument regarding self defense in its rebuttal closing argument, foreclosing an opportunity for Mr. Hundley to address the argument.
- 3. The State engaged in prejudicial prosecutorial misconduct when it arrested a critical defense witness as to Mr. Hundley's claim of self defense in front of the jury during the first day of trial, interfering with Mr. Hundley's constitutional right to compulsory process.
- 4. The State violated Mr. Hundley's right to due process by withholding exculpatory impeachment evidence related to its witness Rosanna Piper.
- 5. The circuit court abused its discretion in ruling that Mr. Cekada's phone records showing his drug activity were inadmissible when such records showing drug trafficking between Rosanna Piper and Mr. Cekada would have impeached Ms. Piper and provided context to the simmering grudge that Mr. Cekada held against Mr. Hundley.
- 6. The circuit court abused its discretion in failing to find a *Miranda* violation where Mr.

 Hundley repeatedly requested an attorney during questioning both at the Piper residence during his arrest and at the police station.

- 7. The circuit court abused its discretion in denying Mr. Hundley's attempt to enter certain parts of his statement to law enforcement that were consistent with self defense into evidence to contradict the State's claim that Mr. Hundley had falsely concocted his claim of self defense months after the confrontation with Mr. Cekada.
- 8. The circuit court's cumulative errors prejudiced Mr. Hundley by eroding his ability to be able to present his theory of defense.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A Jefferson County jury convicted Mr. Scott Hundley of the lesser-included offense of second degree murder following a two day jury trial on the charge of first degree murder. App. 902. Following a recidivist trial and sentencing, the circuit court sentenced Mr. Hundley to a cumulative sentence of forty-five (45) years in prison. App. 1140.

At trial, Mr. Hundley presented the affirmative defense of self-defense and presented evidence that he was in reasonable apprehension of immediate serious injury or death when he fatally stabbed T.J. Cekada with a pocket knife, after Mr. Cekada threatened him with a firearm, recklessly chased after him in a vehicle, crashed into him, and then threatened him with a firearm a second time. App. 681.

On the afternoon of August 7, 2021, Scott Hundley left his residence to go purchase a birthday present for his nephew. App. 687. Mr. Hundley's plan was to purchase the birthday present and then drive over to the residence of Rosanna and Roger Dale Piper, who had custody of his two biological children. *Id*.

On that same day, T.J. Cekada was attempting to purchase illegal narcotics to feed his

out-of-control addiction.¹ App. 47. A week or two earlier, Mr. Hundley had told Mr. Cekada that he was no longer welcome at the Piper residence, where Mr. Hundley's children lived, due to his drug dealing and addiction issue. App. 685-86. T.J. Cekada would often stay at the Piper residence and use drugs with Andrew Piper, Rosanna and Roger Dale's son, as well as sell drugs to Andrew Piper, and buy drugs from Rosanna. App. 37-62. The Piper residence was the only place that T.J. Cekada could stay after he was kicked out by his parents and by his wife due to his uncontrolled addiction. App. 45.

Mr. Hundley traveled to a local Charles Town store and purchased a toy for his nephew and then stopped at the 7-11 convenience store to purchase a drink. App. 688-89.

Mr. Cekada had scored his illegal narcotics, overdosed, and had to be administered narcan on August 7, 2021. App. 73-75. Following his purchasing and using of the narcotics, Mr. Cekada stopped at the 7-11 convenience store to put gas in his vehicle at around the same time that Mr. Hundley stopped at the store to purchase a drink. App. 689.

At the 7-11 convenience store, Mr. Hundley noticed Mr. Cekada's vehicle, but there was no interaction. App. 689. Mr. Hundley then traveled to the Dollar General store to purchase tissue paper to wrap the present that he just bought. *Id*.

After making his purchase, Mr. Hundley exited the Dollar General and walked to his vehicle. App. 690. He then noticed Mr. Cekada parked nearby. App. 690-91. Mr. Cekada was sitting in his vehicle lying in wait for Mr. Hundley to exit the Dollar General and pointed a handgun in Mr. Hundley's direction. App. 691-92. Mr. Hundley was surprised by what he saw

¹ None of the evidence of Mr. Cekada's drug addiction and intoxication on August 7, 2021 was presented to the jury due to the circuit court's rulings.

and started to approach Mr. Cekada's vehicle, while yelling at him for pointing a firearm at him. App. 693-94.

Mr. Cekada then sped out of the Dollar General parking lot, turning right out of the parking lot and parked next to a local fast food restaurant to observe Mr. Hundley's movements out of the parking lot. App. 214, 694. Mr. Hundley exited the Dollar General parking lot making a left and heading in the direction of the Piper residence. App. 694-95. Mr. Cekada, again lying in wait, then sped off in pursuit of Mr. Hundley. App. 461-62. Mr. Cekada drove in a reckless and careless manner in pursuit, passing vehicles in no passing lanes, and apparently speeding upwards of 80 miles per hour. App. 444, 455-56,

Mr. Cekada then rear-ended Mr. Hundley's vehicle and both vehicles came to a stop along the roadway. App. 696. Mr. Hundley got out of his vehicle, and was only a few feet away from the driver's side of Mr. Cekada's vehicle when he saw Mr. Cekada pointing a firearm at him for the second time that day. App. 703-11. Fearing for his life, Mr. Hundley panicked and stabbed Mr. Cekada with a pocket knife. App. 709-11. Mr. Cekada then threw his vehicle into reverse and crashed into a passing motorist, while Mr. Hundley left the scene and traveled to the Piper's residence. App. 460.

Multiple witnesses report that Mr. Cekada then exited his vehicle with his hands near his neck area on the knife wound. Law enforcement arrived at the scene shortly thereafter, with Mr. Cekada uttering a dying declaration that Scott Hundley had stabbed him. Mr. Cekada succumbed to his wound, which hit his jugular, soon afterwards.

Scott Hundley's Statements to Law Enforcement

Within hours of Mr. Cekada's death, law enforcement located Scott Hundley at the

Piper's residence. An officer patted Mr. Hundley down and hat him sit in a lawn chair on the front lawn as they conducted their investigation. An officer started to ask Mr. Hundley questions, and Mr. Hundley told the officer that he would like a lawyer, causing the officer to stop questioning Mr. Hundley and inform the other officers that Mr. Hundley had invoked his right to counsel.

Following the investigation at the Piper residence, Mr. Hundley was placed under formal arrest and brought to the Jefferson County Sheriff's Department, where two officers began to question Mr. Hundley. Mr. Hundley again invoked his right to counsel, but the officers continued questioning him on the events of that day, telling him that he could decide whether to answer specific questions after they were asked. While asking him questions, officers were able to elicit Mr. Hundley's claim of self defense after Mr. Cekada had brandished a firearm at him.

The circuit court ruled that Mr. Hundley's statement to police officers both at the Piper residence and at the police station were admissible and were not elicited in violation of *Miranda*. However, the State did not seek to enter Mr. Hundley's statements to law enforcement into evidence at trial, instead relying upon a series of recorded jail phone calls to introduce Mr. Hundley's statements. In fact the State objected to, and the circuit court sustained, Mr. Hundley introducing any evidence of his statement to law enforcement.

During Mr. Hundley's trial counsel's opening statement, the State objected and requested a sidebar. .

Mr. Zahradnik: "[W]hen Mr. Manford was going through the slides there was a slide with the defendant's statement to the police. The defendant cannot enter that statement at all and the State is not sure if it's going to enter it in its case in chief."

The Court: Well, if he testifies it comes in.

Mr. Zahradnik: Correct, Your Honor, but not through-- that statement to the police is

not-- can't come in. He has to testify in his own words and he can't bolster his credibility with that statement.

Mr. Manford: You're not going to use the statement at all?

Mr. Zahradnik: I don't believe so. Possibly for impeachment if he takes the stand, but we're not going to enter it--

Mr. Manford: This is why I brought this up in pretrial. Nothing personal to Neil, but the last trial I had, the Collins case, you were the prosecutor at that time. They wouldn't play-- they had the officer come in and say he told me this and he told me that, and any of the--

The Court: Self-serving statement....

At this point in time I'm going to tell you to refrain from discussing any statements made by the defendant to the police. If you want to delete that slide before you resume...

The Court: You will be able to argue it at closing if he does [testify]. You don't get to put in the unknown at this point in time.

App. 396-98.

However, defense counsel then sought to introduce Mr. Hundley's statement to law enforcement again during the trial by arguing that the State had opened the door by introducing the jail calls of Mr. Hundley. App. 510. The court ruled that Mr. Hundley could not introduce the statement but that defense counsel could ask the law enforcement officer about whether Mr. Hundley's post-arrest statement was consistent with his claim of self defense. "I'm not allowing him to play the whole statement, but you're able to ask about the consistency." App. 512. Defense counsel again argued he should be able to introduce the statement due to the State playing a portion of the jail call that gave the jury the impression that Mr. Hundley falsely concocted a self defense claim.

Your Honor, he played more than that. He played the following. 'Mom: Right, there is where you need-- that is where you need to say you got out of your car because that's that the law tells you to do is to get out and exchange insurance information. That is why you walked up to his vehicle, and then he pulled a gun on you, and you feared for your life and you just fucking reacted. West Virginia law says you can kill a person if you feel your life is in danger. You can read it.'

App. 518.

The court still would not allow Mr. Hundley's counsel to play the statement for the jury or to get into details about the statement. The court held, "So my ruling was that I'm not going to allow the State to totally mischaracterize things to say that he concocted a story just after talking to mom when he has given a statement to the police, and therefore, my ruling was is that you can ask the officer whether or not that was consistent with the statement that he gave to the police.... Going into details though about the incident that were not in that statement, I thought was going beyond the scope." App. 519-20.

Thus, instead of getting to play Mr. Hundley's statement for the jury or ask specific questions about Mr. Hundley's claim of self defense, Mr. Hundley's attorney was allowed to ask this one question:

Q. Lt. Holz, yesterday we left off with the question...we gave you a chance over the night to review the defendant's statement and my question is isn't it true that the content of the phone call we heard yesterday is substantially the same as what the defendant provided in his statement?

A. Yes, sir, for the most part.

App. 565-66.

The Circuit Court's Exclusion of Intoxication and Addiction Evidence Related to the Decedent

On April 21, 2022, the State filed a motion to exclude introduction of the toxicology report of the Mr. Cekada as well as evidence of Mr. Cekada's drug use and drug trafficking. App. 63.

The toxicology analysis of Mr. Cekada's blood revealed the presence of eight (8) separate

substances-- Eutylone,² 4-ANPP,³ Cotinine,⁴ Naloxone,⁵ Alprazolam,⁶ Buprenorphine,⁷ Norbuprenorphine,⁸ and Fentanyl. App. 78-80.

The autopsy report further indicated that a Glock 43 9mm semi-automatic pistol and a large wad of foil with an unknown substance inside was recovered from Mr. Cekada's pants pockets. App. 81.

On April 28, 2022, Mr. Hundley filed a response opposing this motion, laying out the relevance of Mr. Cekada's intoxication to Mr. Hundley's theory of self defense. App. 113.

These facts [of Mr. Cekada's behavior] show that [he] was exhibiting signs of paranoia, aggressive or violent behavior, agitation, possible anxiety, possible hallucinations or psychosis and impaired judgment, all side effects of the drugs he was abusing at the time as found in the toxicology report prepared by the medical examiner.

Therefore, the toxicology report showing what drugs were in [Mr. Cekada's] system at the time of the incident are relevant and make it more probable that his actions were consistent with the drugs he was abusing at the time and clearly showing that he was the aggressor believing he had a score to settle with the Defendant.

App. 116.

The circuit court addressed the State's motion in limine at the pretrial hearing on April 28, 2022, and ruled that the intoxication of the alleged victim and the toxicology results were

² Eutylone is a synthetic psychoactive bath salt.

³ 4-ANPP is a byproduct of fentanyl analogue substances.

⁴ Cotinine is a metabolite of nicotine.

⁵ Naloxone, also known as Narcan, is a drug administered to reverse an opioid overdose.

⁶ Alprazolam is known under the brand name Xanax.

⁷ Buprenorphine is the active ingredient in the brand name Suboxone, an opioid replacement drug.

⁸ Norbuprenorphine is a metabolite of Buprenorphine.

inadmissible. App. 118.

During the pre-trial hearing, the following exchange happened regarding Mr. Hundley's contention that the toxicology report was relevant evidence to his self defense claim:

MR. MANFORD: I've never had a motion where they're -- bringing the toxicology in and medical examiner's autopsy report, but seriously, I do think it's relevant because they're saying that he's the aggressor and clearly the victim is displaying irrational behavior which would be consistent with drug use.

THE COURT: So Mr. Manford's argument is is that the victim chased the defendant's vehicle. Pre-Trial Tr....

MR. ZAHRADNIK: I don't think that comports with the victim acting irrational. To me that sounds like the victim was acting scared based off of that evidence. You can go through the list of the symptoms or side effects of any controlled substance and find something that comports with some part of behavior and try to explain it that way, Your Honor, but I really think that bringing drugs into the victim -- go back and try it again. I really think that bringing in drugs in the victim's system in this case is to besmirch the victim in the eyes of the jury. I don't think that it really adds anything -- there's no other evidence despite what his client would testify to that he was acting in any way under the influence of a controlled substance and, furthermore, that there was no evidence that would play into drug distribution being relevant into this particular case other than to besmirch the name of the victim from the State's standpoint.

App. 164-66.

The exchange continued,

THE COURT: Well, the evidence shows he was sitting in his car. We don't know if he was waiting for this guy or not.

MR. MANFORD: Unless my client testifies.

THE COURT: Correct.

MR. MANFORD: This is our whole theory of the case. We're not going to be allowed to present it?

THE COURT: So your theory is what about the behavior is the irrational behavior?

MR. MANFORD: Okay. Speeding, passing in no passing zone, reckless driving, tailgating one of these people, and trying to catch up with him.

THE COURT: That's irrational behavior or it's your theory of the case as far as leading up to your self-defense?

MR. MANFORD: So the State is trying to say he's the aggressor. I'm trying to say the victim is the aggressor, all right, because he didn't cowered down to him when he pointed the gun at him. He confronts him. When you're on these drugs, you don't act rationally, all right, and you have aggressive behavior, you're paranoid, so he goes down to that Panda

Garden and he's thinking how can I get this guy back. Then he figures it out. I'm going to go and I'm going to confront him so he's driving like a bat out of hell, excuse me, and you should see that road if you don't already know it, it's like a slalom, all right. He's passing people. This is their own witnesses that say this.

THE COURT: But you can do that and not be under the influence of drugs.

App. 169-70.

The circuit court ultimately ruled,

So at this point in time based on what I'm hearing and what I've got I'm ruling that it's not relevant and I'm granting the State's motion in limine to suppress the drugs in his system. As far as your arguments about the altercation at the house two weeks ago, I understand that that is part of your case and that's going to come in.

... But the toxicology stuff I don't see how it's relevant to anything that I've heard. If we hear something during the course of the trial that you think, well, I wasn't expecting to hear that, Judge, I want to renew my motion, by all means, we can have a sidebar on it. You have the toxicology results. Figure out how you're going to handle that.

App. 185.

Because the fact of Mr. Cekada's drug intoxication was ruled to not be admissible, the State got evidence from a law enforcement officer that Mr. Cekada legally possessed the firearm. App. 566-67. The State also got to introduce the autopsy report, with the toxicology results redacted. App. 597. Defense counsel only asked the forensic pathologist two questions on cross-examination. App. 609-10.

Furthermore, without the introduction of the toxicology evidence, the State was able to argue that all of Mr. Cekada's behavior was normal.

Ladies and gentlemen, the defendant confronted T.J. in that parking lot. T.J. pulled a gun. We know that much is true. I submit to you he pulled that gun because he was scared because he was confronted by the defendant.

He went down there and he calmed down for a second. He had just been threatened. I'm sure his heart was racing, pounding. He's down there and he sees the defendant is not coming after him so he leaves. Where does he go? He goes back towards the direction of

his home, his sanctuary, the place where we all go to feel safe after something traumatic, that's the direction he was headed.

We did hear some testimony. We heard testimony that T.J. was driving quickly, fast, erratically. I'm sure he was. He was scared. He was trying to get home. We also heard testimony from Brittany. T.J. was not a good driver. That wasn't out of character for him, ladies and gentlemen, and I think we can all relate to the fact that on the roads and streets closest to our homes we get a little more careless. It is a road we drive every day, something we see every day, and T.J. was trying to get there and get there fast.

App. 752-54.

Testimony of Rosanna Piper

The State presented the testimony of Rosanna Piper at trial and elicted testimony from her that Mr. Hundley told her on the phone, "I'm going to fucking kill T.J. He pulled his gun on me." App. 571. Ms. Piper apparently did not tell police that Mr. Hundley had allegedly made this comment until her third or fourth interview with police.

When cross-examined by defense counsel, Ms. Piper would not say that Mr. Cekada sold drugs, only that Mr. Cekada and her son "participated in drug activity." App. 574. "He wasn't giving Andrew or selling Andrew anything. He was participating with Andrew..." App. 583. This testimony contradicted what defense counsel told the jury in the opening statement—that Mr. Cekada was selling drugs to Andrew, which was the reason that Mr. Hundley had kicked Mr. Cekada out of the Piper residence.

Defense counsel again tried to open up questioning about Mr. Cekada's drug trafficking in the questioning of the State's expert, Sgt. Boober, who examined Mr. Cekada's cellular phone. App. 598-90. However, the State objected, and the court ruled that defense counsel could not ask Sgt. Boober about drug selling because Rosanna Piper only testified that Mr. Cekada used drugs with her son. *Id*.

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