IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGENAEFiled: May 30 2023 03:05PM EDT Transaction ID 70106976

Docket No. 22-901

STATE OF WEST VIRGINIA,

Respondent,

v.

SCOTT MICHAEL HUNDLEY,

Petitioner.

RESPONDENT'S BRIEF

Appeal from the November 11, 2022, Order Circuit Court of Jefferson County Case No. 22-F-16

> PATRICK MORRISEY ATTORNEY GENERAL

WILLIAM E. LONGWELL ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL West Virginia State Bar No. 12290 Office of the Attorney General 1900 Kanawha Blvd. E. State Capitol, Bldg. 6, Ste. 406 Charleston, WV 25305 Tel: (304) 558-5830

Tel: (304) 558-5830 Fax: (304) 558-5833

Email: William.E.Longwell@wvago.gov

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

Thus, any claim that the prosecution engaged in misconduct in charging and arresting Mr. Williamson is based upon conjecture, and not evidence.

Petitioner's failure to establish that Mr. Williamson was going to be a crucial defense witness is also fatal to his compulsory process claim. This Court has recognized that that "[t]o

establish the denial of the right to compulsory process afforded to criminal defendants pursuant to article III, section 14 of the West Virginia Constitution, there must be a showing that the witness' testimony would have been both material and favorable to the defense. Syl. Pt. 3, *State v. Whitt*, 220 W. Va. 685, 649 S.E.2d 258 (2007). Petitioner has provided no showing that Mr. Williamson's testimony would have been material, or favorable to his defense. Instead, Petitioner merely relies on assertions without pointing to any portion of the transcript that would support those claims. This Court's precedent in *Benny W.* is fatal to Petitioner's ability to obtain relief on this ground, as the entirety of his argument rests upon information that is not evidence.

Additionally, to the extent that Petitioner cites to various cases dealing with the issue of violating one's right to compulsory process, none of them apply here. Indeed, this Court's decision in *State v. Goad*, 177 W. Va. 582, 355 S.E.2d 371 (1987) involve veiled threats made to witnesses before testifying where they were told that if they lied, they would potentially face prosecution. Here, there was no such occurrence. Mr. Williamson was never threatened with prosecution; he was only prosecuted after he had taken the stand at a pretrial hearing and chose to lie in an attempt to benefit Petitioner. Thus, not only has Petitioner failed to present any facts in support of his claim, the legal authority upon which he relies is entirely inapplicable to the facts presented here. For these reasons, Petitioner's third assignment of error should be rejected.

V. The State did not withhold exculpatory evidence.

The State did not withhold exculpatory or impeachment evidence in violation of Petitioner's due process rights under *Brady v. Maryland*, 373 U.S. 83 (1963). Petitioner asserts, without support, that the State withheld information regarding Rosanna Piper's role as a confidential informant for the State, along with her alleged criminal history involving drugs. Pet'r's Br. at 45-46. None of Petitioner's statements as to Ms. Piper's role as a confidential

informant, or her drug history is contained in the record. Accordingly, none of Petitioner's statements as to this information are coupled with a citation to the record. In addition, to the extent that Petitioner claims that there was some exculpatory evidence contained in the text messages related to his criminal trial, he waived any claim to raise it on appeal when he affirmatively withdrew his objection to the State's motion *in limine* seeking to prohibit the introduction of the text messages at trial.

To establish a due process violation under *Brady*, the following three factors must be established: "(1) the evidence at issue must be favorable to the defendant as exculpatory or impeachment evidence; (2) the evidence must have been suppressed by the State, either willfully or inadvertently; and (3) the evidence must have been material, i.e., it must have prejudiced the defense at trial." Syl. Pt. 2, in part, *Youngblood*, 221 W. Va. 20, 650 S.E.2d 119. This Court has recognized that "the suppression by the prosecution of evidence favorable to an accused upon request violates due process where the evidence is material either to guilt or to punishment, irrespective of the good faith or bad faith of the prosecution." *Id.* at 27-28, 650 S.E.2d at 126-27.

As to the second prong, this Court has explained that:

[E]vidence is considered suppressed when "the existence of the evidence was known, or reasonably should have been known, to the government, the evidence was not otherwise available to the defendant through the exercise of reasonable diligence, and the government either willfully or inadvertently withheld the evidence until it was too late for the defense to make use of it."

State v. Peterson, 239 W. Va. 21, 29, 799 S.E.2d 98, 106 (2017) (citations omitted). Finally, a defendant must show that the allegedly undisclosed evidence was material, meaning that "there is a reasonable probability that, had the evidence been disclosed to the defense, the result of the proceeding would have been different. A 'reasonable probability' is a probability sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome." State v. Fortner, 182 W. Va. 345, 353, 387 S.E.2d 812,

820 (1989) (quoting *United States v. Bagley*, 473 U.S. 667, 682 (1985)). Thus, Petitioner must demonstrate that "the favorable evidence could reasonably be taken to put the whole case in such a different light as to undermine confidence in the verdict." *Kyles v. Whitley*, 514 U.S. 419, 435 (1995). It is also important to note that a determination as to the alleged prejudice one may have suffered is "evaluated in the context of the entire record." *United States v. Agurs*, 427 U.S. 97, 112 (1976).

With respect to Petitioner's claim that the State failed to disclose Ms. Piper's criminal history, it is important to note that such claims are completely devoid of any support from the record. *See* Pet'r's Br. at 46-47. Indeed, if this were true, one would expect to see an objection to Ms. Piper's testimony had the State failed to provide defendant with a copy of her criminal history. But because this does not appear in the record, there is no support for this contention and it warrants no further consideration by this Court.

Similar to Petitioner's assignment of error involving the arrest of Mr. Williamson, Petitioner's claims regarding Ms. Piper's criminal history or role as a confidential informant, or her alleged arrest at the time of trial falls under the *Benny W*. prohibition regarding this Court's consideration of statements made by attorneys in briefs that find no support from the record. Thus, without any factual support indicating that these statements are true, Petitioner cannot demonstrate his entitlement to relief simply because he claims that the information existed, but failed to provide any proof in support.

Addressing Petitioner's claims regarding the text messages between Mr. Cekada and Ms. Piper involving drug activity, Petitioner has completely failed to show how this evidence was suppressed by the State. What the record does show is that Petitioner was notified of the text messages obtained from Mr. Cekada's phone that revealed what appears to be discussions

involving drug transactions. App. 37-57, 63-65. Thus, to the extent that Petitioner now asserts that the State withheld evidence of Ms. Piper's alleged drug activity, such contention is entirely belied by the record.

Assuming, *arguendo*, that Petitioner's claims possess even a scintilla of merit, they do not meet the *Brady* standard. First, Petitioner has failed to demonstrate how this evidence is exculpatory or impeachment evidence. Whether Ms. Piper purchased or used drugs has no relation to whether Petitioner stabbed Mr. Cekada on August 7, 2021. The same can be said regarding whether Ms. Piper worked as a confidential informant, or whether she was under arrest at the time of her testimony.

The evidence would not have been admissible impeachment evidence under Rules 608 or 609, either. Rule 608(a) provides that a witness's credibility may be attacked "by testimony about the witness's reputation for having a character for truthfulness or untruthfulness." It goes on to provide that a witness's credibility may be attacked in the "form of an opinion about that character." W. Va. R. Evid. 608(a). The evidence, however, "is admissible only after the witness's character for truthfulness has been attacked." W. Va. R. Evid. 608(a). Rule 608(b) provides that "extrinsic evidence is not admissible to prove specific instances of a witness's conduct in order to attack or support the witness's character for truthfulness." W. Va. R. Evid. 608(b). Rule 609 provides only two circumstances in which a witness, who is not the accused, may have their credibility attacked by evidence of a prior conviction, which are: (1) crimes punishable by death or imprisonment in excess of one year; and (2) convictions of crimes "involv[ing] dishonesty or false statement, regardless of the punishment." W. Va. R. Evid. 609(a)(2)(A)-(B).

Thus, because none of the evidence Petitioner alleges the State suppressed is neither exculpatory, nor falls under the permissible guidelines contained in Rules 608 and 609 of the West Virginia Rules of Criminal Procedure, he cannot meet the first *Brady* prong.

Second, Petitioner cannot demonstrate that the evidence was withheld by the State. It is clear that Petitioner was aware of the substance of the text messages recovered from Mr. Cekada's phone that purported to show Mr. Cekada and Ms. Piper discussing drug transactions. App. 37-57, 63-65. Petitioner does not allege he was unaware that the State planned to call Ms. Piper as a witness. Petitioner has utterly failed to demonstrate that the State withheld any evidence that he was entitled to have, and, therefore, cannot meet the second *Brady* prong.

With respect to the prejudice prong of the *Brady* analysis, Petitioner cannot demonstrate that the evidence was such that the outcome of the trial is drawn into question. To the extent that Petitioner claims that the evidence was relevant to impeach Ms. Piper's testimony with respect to her testimony as to Petitioner's statement that he was going to kill Mr. Cekada, Petitioner was able to sufficiently impeach that statement. Petitioner pointed out during cross examination that, despite her testimony that Petitioner told her he was going to kill Mr. Cekada prior to the stabbing, she did not disclose that information to law enforcement when she provided her first statement. App. 577-78. Petitioner fails to make any connection, however, of Ms. Piper's alleged drug activity with any relevant aspect of his trial, especially in light of the fact that Petitioner admitted making the statement during his own trial testimony. App. 695. Petitioner attempted to lessen the impact of that testimony by claiming that he did not "mean it," and that it was simply an expression of his anger at the time. App. 695.

Moreover, the evidence elicited at trial, both direct and circumstantial, demonstrate that whether the jury would have been advised of Ms. Piper's drug activities would not have had any

impact on the ultimate outcome. Ms. Piper, while important, was hardly the most important witness for the State. Petitioner cannot demonstrate that, if it is presumed the State suppressed the evidence in the first place, that his possession of evidence regarding Ms. Piper's drug activity would have had any impact on the jury's verdict. Thus, Petitioner cannot demonstrate the third *Brady* prong, and his assignment of error should be rejected.

VI. Petitioner's claim that the circuit court erred in denying his motion to suppress is moot, as the State did not introduce the statement into evidence.

Petitioner claims that the circuit court erred in denying his motion to suppress statements Petitioner provided to law enforcement. This claim does not warrant any consideration by this Court because the State did not introduce the statement at trial, and it is, therefore, moot. *See State v. Kennedy*, No. 19-0499, 2020 WL 4360071, at 2 n. 4 (W. Va. Supreme Court, July 30, 2020) (memorandum decision) (concluding petitioner's claim that the circuit court erred in refusing to suppress his statement to law enforcement was mooted by the State's decision to not introduce it into evidence, and, therefore, warranted no consideration on appeal).

While Petitioner cites to numerous cases in support of his position, his argument fails to acknowledge that Petitioner's statement to law enforcement was never introduced into evidence. Thus, Petitioner cannot claim error for the circuit court's failure to suppress a piece of evidence that was never admitted at trial. This claim should be rejected without further consideration.

VII. The circuit court did not err by prohibiting Petitioner from offering his own out-of-court statement into evidence

After assigning as error the circuit court's failure to suppress Petitioner's statement to law enforcement, Petitioner now assigns as error the circuit court's refusal to allow him to introduce that very same statement. Thus, it appears that Petitioner's argument with respect to his statement to law enforcement is that the State should have been prevented from using it, but not himself.

First, the evidence regarding Petitioner's statement to law enforcement, when offered by Petitioner, is hearsay. Hearsay is defined as a statement that "the declarant does not make while testifying at the current trial or hearing" and is offered "in evidence to prove the truth of the matter asserted in the statement." W. Va. R. Evid. 801(c)(1)-(2).

A criminal defendant "ordinarily cannot introduce his own extrajudicial exculpatory statements. They are generally thought to be too self-serving." *State v. Frazier*, 162 W. Va. 602, 614, 252 S.E.2d 39, 46 (1979). While it is true that the circuit court did not permit Petitioner to introduce the entire statement he provided to law enforcement, the circuit court permitted Petitioner to inquire of the officer whether Petitioner's statements upon being arrested and interrogated were consistent with his self-defense claim. App. 511-12, 565-66. The trial testimony demonstrates that the jury was provided the substance of the information that Petitioner sought to elicit from playing the video of his interrogation. App. 565-66.

Petitioner's assignment of error in this respect involved the State's admission of a phone call Petitioner placed to his mother, wherein his mother makes a statement that could be construed as Petitioner and his mother concocting a self-defense claim with respect to the stabbing. App. 510-11. Petitioner sought to introduce his statement to law enforcement in order to rebut any inference that Petitioner and his mother concocted his self-defense claim, particularly because the phone call with his mother took place sometime after Petitioner was arrested. App. 510-12. To the extent that Petitioner sought to inform the jury that he advised law enforcement that he acted in self-defense the night of his arrest, he was able to elicit that testimony, despite not having the opportunity to actually present the actual recording. App. 565-66.

Petitioner's argument in this respect completely discounts the fact that he was permitted to present to the jury the precise information he sought to present through playing his recorded

statement to law enforcement. Thus, Petitioner cannot demonstrate how the circuit court's ruling with respect to this issue was at all erroneous or was unfair to him in any way. Petitioner has failed to demonstrate that the circuit court committed reversible error in this respect, and this Court should reject the claim.

VIII. Petitioner's failure to demonstrate the existence of reversible error is fatal to his claim of cumulative error.

In his final assignment of error, Petitioner claims that he is entitled to relief based upon the cumulative effect of multiple errors. Pet'r's Br. at 54. Because Petitioner has failed to demonstrate the existence of any error in his jury trial, Petitioner cannot succeed on his claim of cumulative error.

"[T]he cumulative error doctrine is applicable only when 'numerous' errors have been found." *State v. Tyler G.*, 236 W. Va. 152, 165, 778 S.E.2d 601, 614 (2015) (citations omitted). But even if "numerous" errors are found, if they "are insignificant or inconsequential, the case should not be reversed under the doctrine." *Id.* (citation and internal quotation marks omitted). Thus, there must be "more than one harmless error" in order to succeed in a claim of cumulative error. *State v. McKinley*, 234 W.Va. 143, 167 n. 22, 764 S.E.2d 303, 327 n. 22 (2014).

Because Petitioner has failed to identify "numerous" error that are not harmless, this Court should reject his claim of cumulative error.

CONCLUSION

For the forgoing reasons, the State respectfully requests this Honorable Court affirm the judgment of the Jefferson County Circuit Court in case number 22-F-16.